IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

LEONARD RAY WOODS,)	NO.	78816	
Appellant,)			Electronically Filed Feb 13 2020 11:48 a.m Elizabeth A. Brown
VS.)			Clerk of Supreme Court
THE STATE OF NEVADA,)			
Respondent.	j)			
APPELLANT) <u>'S OPE</u>	NING :	<u>BRIEF</u>	
(Appeal from Ju	dgment	of Con	viction)	

DARIN F. IMLAY CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF. 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685

Attorney for Appellant

STEVEN B. WOLFSON CLARK COUNTY DIST. ATTY. 200 Lewis Avenue, 3rd Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 702) 455-4711

AARON D. FORD Attorney General 100 North Carson Street Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717 (775) 684-1265

Counsel for Respondent

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The appellant, Leonard Ray Woods ("Leonard"), appeals from his judgment of conviction pursuant to **NRAP 4(b)** and **NRS 177.015**. Leonard's judgment of conviction was filed on May 17, 2019. (Appellant's Appendix Vol. III:564-65). This Court has jurisdiction over Leonard's appeal, which was filed on May 15, 2019. (III:563). See NRS 177.015(1)(a).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals because Leonard went to trial and was convicted of first-degree murder with use of a deadly weapon, a Category A felony. See NRAP 17(b)(2).

Hereinafter, citations to the Appellant's Appendix will start with the volume number, followed by the specific page number. For example, (Appellant's Appendix Vol. III:564-65) will be shortened to (III:564-65).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Structural error during jury selection requires reversal.
- II. Leonard's <u>Faretta</u> canvas was invalid because the district court assured him of his right to personally voir dire jurors during the canvas and then denied Leonard that right at trial without recanvasing him.
- III. The district court violated Leonard's Sixth Amendment rights by denying his repeated requests for substitution of counsel.
- IV. Prosecutorial misconduct during initial guilt phase requires reversal.
- V. Court erred by failing to suppress contents of Leonard's cellphone and dismiss related charges.
- VI. Errors relating to weapons phase of trial.
- VII. Cumulative error requires reversal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 6, 2015, the State filed an information in district court charging Leonard with one (1) count of murder with use of a deadly weapon, four (4) counts of peeping or spying through a window, door, or other opening of dwelling of another while in possession of a recording device, two (2) counts of capturing an image of the private area of another person, two (2) counts of possession of a firearm by a prohibited person, and one (1) count of open or gross lewdness. (I:61-65). The Clark County Public

Defender was appointed to represent Leonard in connection with these charges. (I:70).

On multiple occasions prior to trial, Leonard sought to have the Office of the Public Defender removed as counsel. On December 17, 2015, when Leonard advised the court of his concerns with defense counsel, the court held an ex parte Young² hearing and denied his request for alternate counsel. (III:652-68). On June 29, 2016, Leonard filed his first pro per motion to dismiss counsel and appoint alternate counsel. (I:238-43). On July 21, 2016, the court held a second ex parte Young hearing and denied Leonard's request for alternate counsel. (X:2139-40). On November 21, 2016, Leonard filed a pro per Petition for Writ of Mandamus seeking to compel the court to remove the Public Defender's Office from his case. (I:253-260). At a hearing on December 13, 2016, the court treated Leonard's Petition as a motion to dismiss counsel and appoint alternate counsel and denied the motion based on the pleadings, without holding a Young hearing. (III:581). When Leonard told the court that he would like to represent

² Young v. State, 120 Nev. 963, 102 P.3d 572 (2004) (governing motions for substitution of counsel).

himself "if that is what it takes to remove present counsel", the court scheduled a <u>Faretta</u>³ canvas for December 20, 2016. (III:581).

On December 20, 2016, Leonard sought to avoid having to represent himself by requesting another **Young** hearing and moving to dismiss counsel. (III:582). The court denied Leonard's motion to dismiss counsel without holding a **Young** hearing. (III:582,702). On October 25, 2017, Leonard filed a third written motion to dismiss counsel and appoint alternate counsel. (I:261-69). On November 15, 2017, the court held a third *ex parte* **Young** hearing and denied Leonard's request to dismiss counsel and appoint alternate counsel. (III:592).

Unable to get the Clark County Public Defender's Office removed from his case, Leonard filed a written motion to proceed *pro se* on August 21, 2018. (I:283-285). After a **Faretta** canvas on August 29, 2018, the court permitted Leonard to proceed *pro se* with the Clark County Public Defender's Office as standby counsel. (III:602).

In fall 2018, Leonard filed multiple pretrial motions, including a motion to suppress the contents of his cellphone (II:326-63) and a motion to dismiss counts 2-7 (II:439-42), and in both motions he argued that the

³ <u>Faretta v. California</u>, 422 U.S. 806 (1975)(recognizing defendant's constitutional right of self-representation, where defendant has knowingly and voluntarily relinquished the right to counsel).

unreasonable delay between the impounding of his cellphone and the State's subsequent search of that phone rendered the contents inadmissible. The court denied both motions. (IV:947-950;V:984). The court denied Leonard's request for an evidentiary hearing regarding the unreasonable delay in searching his cellphone. (II:464-66;III:614;V:994).

Although the court denied virtually all of Leonard's other pretrial motions, it granted Leonard's motion to sever the weapons possession charges, so the jury would not learn of his status as a felon until after deliberating on the first eight charges. (IV:903).

Leonard's birfurcated jury trial commenced on March 18, 2019. (III:621-22). On March 25, 2019, after resting its case on the first eight charges, the State dismissed the four (4) counts of peeping or spying through a window, door, or other opening of dwelling of another while in possession of a recording device, because Leonard could not "peep" into his own home. (II:494-96;VIII:1879). The jury took less than an hour to deliberate on the remaining four counts, finding Leonard guilty of one (1) count of first-degree murder with use of a deadly weapon, two (2) counts of capturing an image of the private area of another person, and one (1) count of open or gross lewdness. (II:492-93;III:631).

On March 26, 2019, the weapons possession phase of the trial began, and the jury heard evidence related to the two counts of ownership or possession of a firearm by prohibited person. (III:633). After an hour of deliberations, the jury found Leonard guilty of both counts. (III:633). The penalty phase of the trial began that same afternoon and concluded on the morning of March 27, 2019. (III:633-34). After another hour of deliberation, the jury returned a verdict of life without the possibility of parole. (III:635).

At Leonard's sentencing on May 15, 2019, the court formally adjudicated him guilty and pronounced sentence as follows:

- Count 1 (first degree murder with use of a deadly weapon) life without parole, plus a consecutive sentence of 96 to 240 months for the deadly weapon enhancement.
- Counts 2 & 3 (capturing an image of the private area of another person) 364 days, concurrent with count 1.
- Count 4 (open or gross lewdness) 364 days, concurrent with count 1.
- Counts 5 and 6 (possession of firearm by prohibited person) 28 to 72 months, concurrent with count 1.

(III:636-37). The court gave Leonard 1,379 days credit for time served. (III:637). Leonard filed a notice of appeal in open court that same day. (III:563). Leonard's judgment of conviction was filed on May 17, 2019. (III:564). Leonard's notice of appeal was docketed in this Court on May 23, 2019.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

DL testified that in July 2015, she lived with her mom, Josie Jones, and her mom's on-again-off-again boyfriend, Leonard Woods, in a trailer home on Pinon Peak in Las Vegas. (VII:1482,1487). DL was 15 years old at the time. (VII:1482). According to DL, on the morning of July 15, 2015, Leonard made her stay home with him when her mom went to work. (VII:1488). According to DL, Leonard told her he had seen her through her bedroom window looking at herself and threatened to tell her mom she was "sending pictures" if she did not show him her breasts. (VII:1489). Then, Leonard allegedly grabbed her breasts with both hands over her shirt, lifted her shirt, looked at her, and said, "Those are pretty titties. You have pretty titties." (VII:1490-91). DL testified that Leonard gave her \$20 to bribe her to keep quiet. (VII:1491).

Distraught, DL went to her room and texted/called her friend Devyn to pick her up because Leonard had "molested" her. (VII:1492). When Devyn and her grandmother, Dora Del Prado, arrived at DL's house to pick her up, Leonard allegedly stopped DL and told her she had to send him "a picture" before she could leave. (VII:1493). DL testified that she went back

⁴ Woods disputes that he lived in the Pinon Peak home; he presented evidence at trial indicating that he lived at Montello Avenue. (VII:1441;IX:2013,2022,2031).

into her bedroom, lifted her shirt, took a picture of her breasts, and texted the picture to Leonard. (VII:1494).

DL went outside and got in the car with Devyn and Dora. (VII:1494). During the car ride, Devyn and Dora tried to persuade DL to tell her mom what had happened. (VII:1495). When they got to Dora's home, they called Josie who immediately left work. (VII:1497;VIII:1773).

According to Devyn, when Josie arrived at Dora's home, she was "very upset, crying" and seemed "really scared to call the police." (VIII:1757). According to Devyn, Josie said Leonard was "dangerous" and had made death threats. (VIII:1578). According to Dora, Josie was reluctant to call the police because of Leonard's prior "threats". (VIII:1773). DL testified that Leonard threatened to kill all of them (her mom, herself and her brother) if they ever left. (VII:1498-99). Despite this, Josie eventually called the police. (VII:1498)

When Officers Striegel and Reyes arrived at Dora's house around 4:00 p.m., DL, Devyn, Dora and Josie "all filled out police statements". (VII:1500;VIII:1657). DL told officers she had been "molested" by Leonard. (VIII:1660). DL also shared the text messages she had sent Devyn that morning. (VIII:1665).

Sometime after 4:00 p.m., Officers Blasko and Fulwiler arrived at the Pinon Peak home. (VIII:1704). They saw a man fitting Leonard's description exit the home and get into a black Chevrolet Suburban that was parked in the driveway. (VIII:1706-07). When the vehicle left the driveway and began driving southbound on Pinon Peak Drive, the officers conducted a vehicle stop. (VIII:1707). They identified the driver as Leonard Woods. (VIII:1708).

Officer Fulwiler testified that he placed Leonard in handcuffs, put him in the back of his patrol car, and read him his Miranda Rights. (VIII:1731-32). Officer Fulwiler testified that he informed Leonard that there were pictures potentially sent via cell phone. (VIII:1732-33). According to Officer Fulwiler, Leonard responded that he received a text message with a multimedia message or video from DL but he had not opened it and did not know what it was. (VIII:1733). Officer Fulwiler testified that he asked Woods whether there were any firearms in the home. (IX:1998). According to Officer Fulwiler, Leonard replied that "there may or may not be a shotgun in his closet". (IX:1998).

After Leonard had been placed in custody, Officers Striegel and Reyes arrived at the Pinon Peak home, as did Josie and DL. (VII:1500,VIII:1662). According to Officer Blasko, when Josie returned

home, she signed a "consent to search" card allowing officers to search the black Chevrolet suburban that Leonard had been driving. (VIII:1710,1729). Josie also told police that Leonard had firearms in the house. (IX:2024). As a result, Officer Reyes testified that he applied for and received an authorization to search the Pinon Peak home for firearms. (IX:2001-02).

During the vehicle search, Officer Blasko testified that he found a black cellphone inside Josie's vehicle, on top of the center console. (VIII:1709). Officer Blasko believed the cellphone had evidentiary value because Officer Reyes told him there may be a picture on that phone. (VIII:1710). After photographing the cellphone, they packaged and impounded it into evidence. (VIII:1711).

While searching the Pinon Peak home, Officer Reyes located a small black handgun inside the living room couch. (IX:2003-04). Officer Reyes also located a shotgun inside a blue pillowcase in the closet of a room that was identified to him as Leonard's bedroom. (IX:2004-05). Officer Reyes found ammunition for the handgun in the same pillowcase. (IX:2006-07).

DL and Josie moved out of the Pinon Peak home that evening. (VII:1500-01). They stayed with their extended family for a week, then got an apartment at Siegel Suites for a few days, and finally moved into a place across town, off Hacienda and Decatur. (VII:1502).

DL testified that, at some point, they received a call from Leonard at CCDC; but Josie decided she was no longer going to have contact with him. (VII:1504-05). DL testified that, on August 3, they learned that Leonard had been released from police custody. (VII:1505).

On August 5, 2015, DL had cheerleading practice at Desert Pines High School at 6:00 p.m. (VII:1505). Josie went to practice with DL and stayed the entire time, until around 8:00 p.m. (VII:1506). After practice they went to the Walgreens off Flamingo and Decatur, next to the Orleans Hotel. (VII:1506). They parked in front of the store and went inside for approximately 5 minutes. (VII:1507-08). Then, Josie walked out first with DL following behind her. (VII:1508). When Josie got to the front of the car, she saw a man run out and appear to shake Josie, who began screaming. (VII:1508). DL heard the man yell repeatedly, "I told you I would find you B-I-T-C-H". (VII:1508).

The man turned and DL glimpsed the side of his face. (VII:1508). DL testified that she knew it was Leonard because she saw his face when he looked at her and because it sounded like him. (VII:1510). DL ran into the Walgreens to get help. (VII:1510). When DL came back outside, her mom had collapsed on the sidewalk and the assailant was gone. (VII:1509).

There were two other eyewitnesses to Josie's murder: Garland Calhoun and Yesenia Rivas. (VIII:1844). Calhoun and Rivas were standing on the sidewalk outside of the Walgreens in front of Josie's SUV when she was attacked. (VIII:1844). At trial, Calhoun and Rivas both identified Leonard as the man who attacked Josie. (VII:1581;1602). However, in his statement to police, Garland was uncertain he could identify the assailant. (IX:1932). And, Rivas admitted that her vision was very bad and that she was not wearing glasses during the incident. (VII:1601,1604;IX:1933). Rivas also admitted that she and Calhoun had been "going over" their statements with one another before trial. (VII:1603).

A few hours after Josie's attack, Officers Travis Swartz and Vincent Haynes were downtown conducting a vehicle stop in the vicinity of 6th and Ogden. (VII:1454-55;VIII:1778-79). According to Officer Haynes, a man who identified himself as "Leonard Woods" approached, gave his ID, and said he had been involved in an incident in a Walgreens parking lot at Tropicana and Decatur and believed he might be wanted. (VII:1455-57). After running a records check, Officer Swartz found no evidence that Leonard was "wanted". (VIII:1780). However, Officer Swartz discovered that there was an active homicide scene at Tropicana and Decatur.

(VII:1456-57; VIII:1781). So, they put Leonard in handcuffs and transported him to Metro headquarters. (VIII:1782-83).⁵

At Metro headquarters, Detective Buddy Embrey informed Leonard that Josie had died. (VIII:1847-48). At trial, the State introduced evidence of a jail call allegedly placed by Leonard, using his jail PIN number, to Jennifer Woodson, whose name and number were found in Leonard's cell phone. (VIII:1854-55).⁶ On the call, a man's voice says, "Hey I did something to Josie, but I don't think she's gonna make it." Then, the man says, "I didn't wanna go that far, I just like lost it. But now they tellin' me that she ain't gonna make it." (State's Exhibit 71).

On August 6, 2015, Detective Donald Shane obtained a search warrant for Leonard's cellphone that had been in police custody for 21 days, since July 17, 2015. (II:343-351). Detective Jason Darr testified that he examined the cellphone. (VIII:1811). In the phone, Detective Darr found an "expired" multimedia message sent by DL on July 17, 2015 that had never been opened. (VIII:1815-16). Detective Darr also found a photograph of a girl standing in a bathroom without a shirt, which was viewed on March 9,

⁵ Leonard told the jury he did not approach the officers; they approached him. (VII:1444).

⁶ Leonard disputes that he was the person who placed this call, arguing that detectives had his PIN number and recorded voice since 2003 and manufactured the call. (IX:1930).

2015 at 8:59 p.m. (VIII:1819-20). Detective Darr also found a photograph of a girl in the bathroom with her buttocks exposed, which was viewed on March 23, 2015 at 6:57 p.m. (VIII:1820-21). Finally, Detective Darr found a photograph of a girl standing with her back to the camera, which was viewed on April 21, 2015 at 9:14 p.m. (VIII:1820-21). At trial, DL testified that she was the person depicted in the three photographs. (VII:1511-12). Detective Darr could not say how these images came to be on Leonard's phone, or who had looked at them; all he could say was when they were viewed. (VIII:1823-25).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Leonard's state and federal constitutional rights to self-representation and due process were violated when the court prevented him from personally participating in voir dire, after assuring him he could do so during his **Faretta** canvas. Leonard's Sixth Amendment rights were violated when the court denied his repeated requests for substitution of counsel, forcing him to defend himself *pro se* at trial. Reversal is also required as a result of rampant prosecutorial misconduct and errors during the weapons-phase of the trial. Whether considered alone or together, these errors require reversal. In addition, because the district court should have suppressed evidence obtained from Leonard's cellular phone, counts 2 and 3 must be vacated.

ARGUMENT

I. Structural error during jury selection requires reversal.

The district court violated Leonard's state and federal constitutional rights to self-representation and due process by interfering with his right to personally question prospective jurors during voir dire, requiring reversal.

Nev. Const. art. I, § 8; U. S. Const. amend. VI, XIV.

A. Relevant factual background.

At calendar call on March 7, 2019, the district court advised the parties that it would ask <u>all</u> the voir dire questions during jury selection and directed them to submit any proposed questions to the court prior to trial. (V:1033). On the first day of trial, March 18, 2019, the court addressed the parties' proposed voir dire questions and made them court exhibits. (V:1043;X:2160-61).

Leonard wanted the court to ask following eleven questions:

- 1) Are you capable of being fair and impartial to someone accused of murder?
- 2) Do you believe that you have the ability to follow the letter of the law as it pertains to all aspects of murder?
- 3) Do you personally know of someone who has been killed or murdered? What are your views?
- 4) What are your views on race and interracial relationships?
- 5) Do you believe someone is automatically guilty because they have been arrested or accused?
- 6) What are your views on the state having to prove <u>beyond</u> a reasonable doubt?

- 7) What are your views on the defense having <u>no</u> burden of proof?
- 8) What are your views on the state having no physical evidence for conviction?
- 9) Do you believe someone who falsely accuses another should also be punished?
- 10) Do you believe officers who tamper with evidence or lie in trial should be punished?
- 11) Do you believe police officers are always right?

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