IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

LEONARD RAY WOODS,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Apr 15 2020 11:01 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 78816

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

DEBORAH L. WESTBROOK Nevada Bar #009285 Deputy Public Defender 309 South Third Street. Ste. 226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4685

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

And I want, for the record, I want to state the fact that even though me and Ms. Murray started off shaky, the last time you told me to talk to see if you guys can work it out. We talked in – it's – it's more professional. 'Cause on a personal level I'm okay, we're okay, you know.

IV AA 853. Attorney-client relationships are difficult at times, and there are often disagreements. However, at the end of the day, Appellant and Ms. Murray were on

good terms. The record clearly belies Appellant's claim that he was "left with no choice but to proceed *pro se*." AOB, at 42. Thus, this case is unlike <u>Young</u>, because there was not a complete breakdown in the attorney-client relationship.

Moreover, Appellant claims that the second prong of Young, adequacy of inquiry, is also met because the district court did not listen to Appellant's concerns. AOB, at 44. However, in Young, this Court found that the district court failed to examine the severity of the attorney-client relationship discord, when it "failed to inquire in any depth about Young's complaints regarding a lack of communication, [defense attorney]'s failure to file any pretrial motions, [defense attorney]'s failure to contact any witnesses, and more importantly, why [defense attorney] had violated the district court's order to visit Young weekly. Id. at 971, 102 P.3d at 577. This Court also found that the "district court did not explore the degree to which the lack of communication and animosity between Young and his counsel had prevented his counsel from adequately preparing for trial." Id.

Here, the district court's inquiry was more than adequate. The district court spent over an hour listening to Appellant's complaints about his counsel and counsel's discussion about the thorough investigations and ways they had prepared for trial. IV AA 723-772.

Lastly, Appellant alleges that the third prong of <u>Young</u>, timeliness of motion, is also met because Appellant filed many motions, and all were timely except the

one on the eve of trial. AOB, at 35-36. The Court evaluates the timeliness of a motion to substitute counsel "by balancing a defendant's constitutional right to counsel against the inconvenience and delay that would result from the substitution of counsel." Young, 120 Nev. at 969-970, 102 P.3d at 577. In Young, the Court found his repeated motions as timely when they ranged from three (3) and a half years before trial, to one (1) month before trial. Id. Here, while Appellant filed multiple motions, including on the eve of trial and three (3) months before trial, even if they were timely, the first and second factor are not met. Thus, this factor is irrelevant.

Therefore, applying all three (3) Young factors to the instant case, Appellant cannot demonstrate the extent of conflict was great enough for substitution of counsel. In fact, Appellant even asked for Ms. Murray as his standby counsel while deciding to represent himself after telling the court he considered her a "friend." IV AA 853-855. Thus, this claim is without merit.

IV. THE STATE DID NOT COMMIT PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT

Appellant alleges that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct and violated his "state and federal constitutional rights to a fair trial and due process of the law." AOB, at 45.

Prosecutorial misconduct justifies reversing a conviction only where it "so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." <u>Darden v. Wainwright</u>, 477 U.S. 168, 181, 106 S. Ct. 2464, 2471 (1986)

(quoting Donnelly v. DeChristoforo, 416 U.S. 637, 643, 94 S. Ct. 1868, 1871 (1974)). See also United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 11-12, 105 S. Ct. 1038, 1044 (1985) ("a criminal conviction is not to be lightly overturned on the basis of a prosecutor's comments standing alone, for the statements or conduct must be viewed in context; only by doing so can it be determined whether the prosecutor's conduct affected the fairness of the trial."). "[T]o preserve a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, the defendant must object to the misconduct at trial because this 'allow[s] the district court to rule upon the objection, admonish the prosecutor, and instruct the jury.' When an error has not been preserved, this court employs plainerror review. Under that standard, an error that is plain from a review of the record does not require reversal unless the defendant demonstrates that the error affected his or her substantial rights, by causing 'actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." Valdez v. State, 124 Nev. 1172, 1190, 196 P.3d 465, 477 (2008) (internal citations omitted).

A. The State did not undermine Appellant's presumption of innocence.

Appellant alleges that the State "repeatedly undermined [Appellant]'s presumption of innocence during the initial guilt phase of [Appellant]'s bifurcated trial." AOB, at 45.

///

///

1. "Guilty" PowerPoint slide in the State's opening statement

During the State's opening statement, the State included a PowerPoint presentation that included a slide with only the word "GUILTY." XI Supp. AA 2167. The PowerPoint slide was used in conjunction with the State asking the jury, "at the end of this trial, Mr. Rogan and I, on behalf of the State of Nevada, will ask that you return a verdict of first-degree, along with the other charges in this case." VII AA 1439.

"A prosecutor may use PowerPoint slides to support his or her opening statement so long as the slides' content is consistent with the scope and purpose of opening statements and does not put inadmissible evidence or improper argument before the jury." Watters v. State, 129 Nev. 886, 890, 312 P.3d 243, 247 (2013). In Watters, the prosecutor orally declared the State would be asking the jurors to find the defendant guilty, accompanied by a PowerPoint slide that displayed the defendant's booking photograph with the label "GUILTY." Id. "The prosecution could not *orally* declare the defendant guilty in opening statement ... allowing prosecutors to use booking photos with "guilty" written across them during opening statement does not serve an essential state interest." Id. at 891, 312 P.3d at 248. Thus, using a PowerPoint slide with the defendant's booking photo and the word "guilty" undermines the presumption of innocence. Id.

In the instant case, the State was very clear about abiding by this Court's holding in Watters, by not using Appellant's booking photo with the word "GUILTY." Instead, it simply stated the word "guilty" in conjunction with asking the jury to return a verdict of guilty. XI Supp. Appx. 2167; VII AA 1439. That makes the instant PowerPoint slide unlike the PowerPoint slide in Watters. The slide in Watters "directly declared [the defendant] guilty" because the word "GUILTY" was written directly across the defendant's booking photo. Id. at 891, 312 P.3d at 248. Here, the slide did not directly declare Appellant guilty, because it simply illustrated what the State indicated it would be requesting from the jury after the presentation of evidence—a guilty verdict. VII AA 1439. Thus, the instant case is extremely different than Watters, and the State did not commit reversible error.

Regardless, any alleged error was harmless. Appellant cannot demonstrate that the PowerPoint slide so infected the trial with unfairness that his due process rights were denied. <u>Id</u>. at 1189, 196 P.3d 476–77. Thus, the correct analysis is whether "the error substantially affect[ed] the jury's verdict." <u>Id</u>. Appellant has not demonstrated that this was so, and this claim is without merit.

2. References to Appellant's custody status and criminal history

Appellant alleges that the State "repeatedly informed the jury that [Appellant] had been arrested, apprehended, handcuffed, placed in custody, and booked in the Clark County Detention Center in July 2015." AOB, at 47. Appellant concedes that

he did not object to these references, and thus, the standard is plain error. <u>Dermody</u>, 113 Nev. at 210-11, 931 P.2d at 1357.

While a defendant has a right to prevent the jury from being informed of his current custody status, he does not have a right to keep the jury from being informed as to whether he was ever in custody in the past. See Haywood v. State, 107 Nev. 285, 288, 809 P.2d 1272, 1273 (1991) ("informing the jury that a defendant *is* in jail raises an inference of guilt." (emphasis added)). However, any error is harmless when there is substantial evidence of a defendant's guilt. <u>Id</u>.

At trial, multiple witnesses testified that Appellant was arrested for the open and gross lewdness (VII AA 1433-1435; VIII AA 1663, 1732; IX AA 1955), that he was transported and booked at the Clark County Detention Center (VII AA 1500; VIII AA 1664), that D.L. told officers Appellant molested her (VIII AA 1662), Appellant's statements to the officers (IX AA 1913); and that the officers searched Appellant's car (VIII AA 1744-45). The officers' testimony that Appellant cites merely discussed how Appellant was arrested for the crime of open and gross lewdness and then later released. This is different than <u>Haywood</u>, where the State discussed how the defendant was *in* custody between the time of his arrest and trial. Haywood, at 288, 809 P.2d at 1273.

Moreover, Appellant cites to testimony from Dora Del Prado, referring to Appellant as being afraid about going "back to jail." AOB, at 48; VIII AA 1772. The

State did not elicit this testimony; thus, it cannot be prosecutorial misconduct. The district court struck the statement and told the "jury to disregard that." AOB, at 48; VIII AA 1772. "[T]his court generally presumes that juries follow district court orders and instructions." Summers v. State, 122 Nev. 1326, 1333, 148 P.3d 778, 783 (2006). By telling the jury to disregard the witness's statement, any error must be harmless. As such, this prosecutorial misconduct claim is without merit.

B. Leading Questions

Appellant alleges that the "vast majority of the State's leading questions to Detective Buddy Embry were leading." AOB, at 50. Appellant concedes that he did not object to these references, and thus, the standard is plain error. <u>Dermody</u>, 113 Nev. at 210-11, 931 P.2d at 1357.

Whether leading questions should be allowed is a matter mostly within the discretion of the trial court, and any abuse of the rules regarding them is not ordinarily a ground for reversal. Leonard v. State, 117 Nev. 53, 70, 17 P.3d 397, 408 (2001). Additionally, Appellant has failed to cite a single case establishing that the use of leading questions can be construed as prosecutorial misconduct. Given the weight of the evidence against him, Appellant cannot demonstrate that the alleged error violated his substantial rights. Valdez, at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477. As such, this claim is without merit.

///

C. Misleading Jury

Appellant alleges that the State misled the jury in three (3) ways: (1) by claiming Appellant was the "only person" who knew he drove a Ford Taurus; (2) by claiming Appellant admitted he watched D.L. outside the bathroom; and (3) by claiming Josie told D.L., Dora, and Devyn that he will find and kill her. AOB, at 51-55.

These arguments made by the State were permissible argument and did not misstate the evidence. See Taylor v. State, 132 Nev. 309, 371 P.3d 1036 (2016); see also Domingues v. State, 112 Nev. 683, 696, 917 P.2d 1364, 1373 (1996). Statements that are "completely irrelevant to the issues in [the case], and could only have impermissibly served to inflame the emotions of the jury ... clearly consitut[e] misconduct." McGuire v. State, 100 N3v. 153, 156-158, 677 P.2d 1060, 1063 (1984) (finding that the statements questioning "defense counsel's ability to carry out the required functions of an attorney" and "improper expressions of his personal belief in [the defendant's] guilt" constitute prosecutorial misconduct). "It is improper for the State to refer to facts not in evidence. Further, it is also improper for the State to infer that a defendant has a prior criminal history." Rose v. State, 123 Nev. 194, 209, 163 P.3d 408, 418 (2007).

First, the State asked Detective Embrey:

Q [MS. FLECK]: Did you get information from people at the scene as to the **make and model that they guessed this was?**

A [DETECTIVE EMBREY]: Yes, we did.

. . .

Q: Mr. Woods talked to you about a Ford Taurus and said, was there any connection to a Ford Taurus? And that there was nothing connecting him to a Ford Taurus.

Not one person, except for Mr. Woods, has specifically said that that car is a Ford Taurus. Would you agree with me?

A: I agree

VIII AA 1842, 1863 (emphasis added). The State was simply following up with Detective Embrey's investigation and when he interviewed Appellant. At that point in his investigation, there was nothing *connecting* Appellant to a Ford Taurus. While witnesses at the scene mentioned the possibility the getaway car was a Ford Taurus, the State did not misstate evidence, by stating that the only person who said with certainty the car was a Ford Taurus was Appellant.

Second, in closing argument, the State argued that Appellant was watching her through the bathroom window. IX AA 1951-1952. Appellant objected to the State characterizing the photographs as being taken through the "bathroom window" because D.L.'s testimony was that they were through the "bedroom window." IX AA 1951-1952. The court told overruled the objection because "the jury will rely on what they remember the exact testimony to be." IX AA 1952. And while Appellant argues that the prosecutor falsely claimed it was the "bathroom window," in fact, D.L.'s testimony was that the photographs were taken through the bathroom window:

Q [MS. FLECK]: Okay. I'm going to show you State's Exhibit 57. Do you recognize what's depicted here?

A [D.L.]: Yes. That is the bathroom, through the window above the shower.

Q: Okay. So that's kind of looking down?

A: Yup.

VII AA 1512.

Finally, the State did not make a false claim that Josie told multiple people "he will find me, and he will kill me" did not misstate the evidence and was not unduly prejudicial. Three (3) eyewitnesses all heard Appellant saying "I told you I'd find you, I told you I'd kill you" while stabbing Josie. AOB, at 54. Thus, this statement does not misstate evidence. Moreover, Appellant's only argument for why the statement was unduly prejudicial is that he "contended that the three eyewitnesses were mistaken about his identity and all three eyewitnesses heard the assailant repeat that phrase." AOB, at 55. This does not make the statement prejudicial, and in fact, the statement is highly relevant. Therefore, Appellant's claims that the State misled the jury are without merit.

D. Golden Rule

Appellant alleges that the State violated the golden rule argument in its closing argument. AOB, at 55.

"Golden rule" arguments are prohibited in Nevada. <u>Lioce v. Cohen</u>, 124 Nev. 1, 20–23, 174 P.3d 970, 982–84 (2008). "[A]ttorneys violate the 'golden rule' by

[(1)] asking the jurors to place themselves in the plaintiff's position or [(2)] nullify the jury's role by asking it to 'send a message' to the defendant instead of evaluating the evidence." <u>Id</u>. "Golden rule arguments are improper because they infect the jury's objectivity." <u>Id</u>. at 22, 174 P.3d at 984.

In the instant case, the State was not actually asking the jury to put themselves in D.L.'s position. <u>Lioce</u>, 124 Nev. at 20–23, 174 P.3d at 982–84. Rather, the prosecutor asked the jury to use their common sense that is it undeniably tragic to watch a parent get murdered, by stating watching the events that unfolded "is life changing in and of itself." X AA 2116.¹ Additionally, the State used the "yellow light" example as a demonstration, which did not violate the golden rule because it did not have the jury put themselves in the Appellant's position. It was an illustration of how quickly a person can make a decision, not that Appellant was actually running a yellow light. IX AA 1918. Thus, there was no improper comment. <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1188, 196 P.3d at 476.

Regardless, Appellant cannot meet the second <u>Valdez</u> prong because any error was harmless. Appellant has not alleged that the so-called golden rule arguments so infected the trial with unfairness that his due process rights were denied. <u>Id</u>. at 1189, 196 P.3d 476–77. Thus, the correct analysis is whether "the error substantially

¹ Moreover, it is important to note that this comment was made during the penalty phase, after the jury already found Appellant guilty of First-Degree Murder.

affect[ed] the jury's verdict." <u>Id</u>. Appellant has not demonstrated that this was so, and this claim is without merit.

V. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR BY FAILING TO SUPPRESS THE CONTENTS OF APPELLANT'S CELLPHONE

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